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PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT NO. 11
(to Prospectus dated May 19, 2015)

589,510 Shares

Common Stock

This Prospectus Supplement No. 11 supplements the prospectus dated May 19, 2015 or the prospectus that forms a

part of our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration Statement No. 333-203843). This prospectus supplement

is being filed to update, amend and supplement the information included or incorporated by reference in the

prospectus with the information contained in our Amended Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed with the Securities

and Exchange Commission on November 24, 2015 (the Amended Current Report ). Accordingly, we have attached the
Amended Current Report to this prospectus supplement.

The prospectus and this prospectus supplement relate to the disposition from time to time by the selling stockholders
identified in the prospectus, or their permitted transferees or other successors-in-interest, of an aggregate of 589,510
shares of our common stock, which are issuable upon the exercise of warrants to purchase our common stock. We are
not selling any common stock under the prospectus and this prospectus supplement, and will not receive any of the
proceeds from the sale of shares by the selling stockholders.

This prospectus supplement should be read in conjunction with the prospectus, which is to be delivered with this
prospectus supplement. This prospectus supplement updates, amends and supplements the information included or
incorporated by reference in the prospectus. If there is any inconsistency between the information in the prospectus
and this prospectus supplement, you should rely on the information in this prospectus supplement.

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol CAPN. The last reported sale price of
our common stock on The NASDAQ Capital Market on November 23, 2015 was $1.86 per share.

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should review carefully the risks and
uncertainties described under the heading Risk Factors beginning on page 8 of the prospectus, and under
similar headings in any amendments or supplements to the prospectus, and Part II Item 1A Risk Factors in
our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2015.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or
disapproved of these securities, or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to
the contrary is a criminal offense.
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 8-K/A

CURRENT REPORT
PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
September 8, 2015

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported)

CAPNIA, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 001-36593 77-0523891
(State or other jurisdiction (Commission (L.R.S. Employer

of incorporation) File Number) Identification Number)
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1235 Radio Road, Suite 110

Redwood City, CA 94065
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
(650) 213-8444

(Registrant s telephone number, including area code)

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of
the registrant under any of the following provisions (see General Instruction A.2. below):

Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)

Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)

Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))

Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))
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Section 8 Other Events

Item 8.01  Other Events

As previously disclosed, on September 8, 2015, Capnia, Inc. ( Capnia , us or we ) through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
NeoForce Acquisition, Inc., entered into an asset purchase agreement to purchase substantially all of the assets of

NeoForce Group, Inc. and NeoForce Innovations, LLC (collectively NeoForce ). This Current Report on Form 8-K/A

(the Amended Report ) updates the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 14, 2015 (the Original Report ) to
include the audited financial statements of NeoForce and the unaudited pro forma financial information in accordance

with Item 9.01 of Form 8-K. No other amendments to the Original Report are being made by the Amended Report.

On September 16, 2015, NeoForce Acquisition, Inc. amended its Certificate of Incorporation to change its name to
NeoForce, Inc.

Section 9 Financial Statements and Exhibits

Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits
(a) Financial Statements of Business Acquired.

The audited consolidated financial statements of NeoForce for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 are
attached hereto as Exhibit 99.1 and are incorporated by reference into this Item 9.01(a) and made a part hereof.

The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements of NeoForce for the six months ended June 30,
2015 are attached hereto as Exhibit 99.2 and are incorporated by reference into this Item 9.01(a) and made a part
hereof.

(b) Pro Forma Financial Information.

The unaudited pro forma financial information of Capnia is attached hereto as Exhibit 99.3 and is incorporated by
reference into this Item 9.01(b) and made a part hereof: (i) unaudited condensed combined pro forma balance sheet at
June 30, 2015 and notes thereto, and (ii) unaudited condensed combined pro forma statements of operations for the six
months ended June 30, 2015 and the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 and notes thereto.

(d) Exhibits.

99.1 Audited consolidated financial statements of NeoForce for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

99.2 Unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements of NeoForce for the six months ended June 30,
2015.

99.3 Unaudited condensed combined Pro Forma balance sheet at June 30, 2015 and notes thereto, and unaudited
condensed combined pro forma statements of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2015 and the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2014 and notes thereto.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

CAPNIA, INC.

By: /s/ David O Toole
David O Toole
Chief Financial Officer
Date: November 24, 2015
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NEOFORCE GROUP, INC.

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Shareholder s/Members Deficit
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Exhibit 99.1
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
of NeoForce Group, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of NeoForce Group, Inc. and affiliate (the Company )
as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholder s/members
deficit and cash flows for the years then ended. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have,
nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of NeoForce Group, Inc. and affiliate, as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results of their
operations and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

/s/ Marcum LLP

Marcum LLP

San Francisco, CA

November 24, 2015



Edgar Filing: Capnia, Inc. - Form 424B3

NEOFORCE GROUP INC. AND AFFILIATE

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, December 31,

2014 2013
Assets
Current assets
Cash $ 39,192 $ 59,434
Accounts receivable 126,974 112,945
Inventory 60,071 59,743
Total current assets 226,237 232,122
Long-term assets
Property and equipment, net 58,708 87,797
Security Deposit 4,000 4,000
Total assets $ 288,945 $ 323,919
Liabilities and shareholder s/members deficit
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 18912  $ 905
Accrued liabilities 80,531 82,944
Loan payable 236,000 236,000
Shareholder loan 34,305
Total current liabilities 335,443 354,154
Shareholder s/Members Deficit
Common stock, no par value, 100 shares authorized and outstanding 100 100
Retained earnings 492,530 460,293
Controlling interest in NeoForce Innovations (269,564) (245,314)
Total controlling shareholder s equity (deficit) 222,966 214,979
Non-controlling interest in NeoForce Innovations (269,564) (245,314)
Total accumulated deficit (46,598) (30,335)
Total shareholder s/members deficit (46,498) (30,235)
Total liabilities and shareholder s/members deficit $ 288,945 $ 323,919

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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NEOFORCE GROUP INC. AND AFFILIATE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenue
Cost of goods sold

Gross profit
Operating expenses

Operating income
Interest expense

Net income (loss)

Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest
Net income attributable to controlling interest

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Fiscal Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013
$987,853 $1,219,859
484,784 604,433
503,069 615,426
500,453 514,387
2,616 101,039
(18,879) (21,279)
(16,263) 79,760
(24,250) (26,023)

$ 7987 $ 105,783

10
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Balance - January 1, 2013
Net income (loss)

Net income (loss)

NEOFORCE GROUP, INC. AND AFFILIATE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDER S/MEMBERS DEFICIT

NeoForce Innovations,

LLC.
Common
Stock Retained Controlling Non-controlling  Total
Shares Amount Earnings Interest Interest Deficit

100 $ 100 $328,487 ($ 219,291) (§

131,806 (26,023)
Balance - December 31, 2013 100 100 460,293 (245,314)
32,237 (24,250)

Balance -December 31, 2014 100 $ 100 $492,530 ($ 269,564) ($

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

219,292) ($109,995)
(26,023) 79,760

(245,314) (30,235)
(24,250) (16,263)

269,564) ($ 46,498)

11
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NEOFORCE GROUP, INC. AND AFFILIATE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable
Inventory

Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayment of shareholder loan
Repayment of long term debt

Net cash used in financing activities

Net decrease in cash
Cash, beginning of period

Cash, end of period

Cash paid during the years for:

Interest

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Fiscal Year Ended
December 31,

2014 2013
$(16,263) $ 79,760
29,089 29,089
(14,029) (25,529)
(328) 6,912
18,007 (10,598)
(2,413) (7,787)
14,063 71,847
(34,305) (10,000)
(100,000)
(34,305) (110,000)
(20,242) (38,153)
59,434 97,587
$ 39,192 $ 59434
$ 22499 $ 29,900

12
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Neoforce Group, Inc.
December 31, 2014 and 2013
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 1. Description of Business

Neoforce Group, Inc. ( NeoForce ) was incorporated in the State of Delaware on August 1, 2005, and is located in
Ivyland, Pennsylvania. NeoForce develops and distributes innovative pulmonary resuscitation solutions for neonates
and leverages its technology platform to expand into the broader pediatric and adult markets. NeoForce s products
include the NeoPIP Infant T-Piece Resuscitator and the CPRNome Resuscitation Timer. NeoForce made a valid
election to be taxed as an S-corporation.

NeoForce Innovations, LLC ( Innovations ) was incorporated in the State of Delaware on November 19, 2007, and is
located in Ivyland, Pennsylvania. NeoForce initially owned a 50% member interest, and an unrelated third party

owned the remaining 50%. NeoForce transferred its 50% member interest to its one shareholder in 2012. Innovations

is treated as a partnership for tax purposes. Innovations was established to design and patent a device ( Ispira )
leveraging NeoForce s neonatal resuscitation product platform to provide effective rescue breaths to pediatric and adult
patients in conjunction with integrated cardiac defibrillators

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America ( GAAP ).

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP and include the accounts of
NeoForce and its affiliate Innovations, collectively the Company. (See Note 3) All intercompany transactions have
been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities, and reported amounts of expenses in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual
results could differ from those estimates. Key estimates included in the consolidated financial statements include the
allowances for accounts receivable and inventory.

Concentrations
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a concentration of credit risk consist of cash at two
commercial banks that management believes are of high credit quality. Cash deposited with these commercial banks

did not exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insurable limit at December 31, 2014 and 2013.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, two customers contributed 48% of the Company s total revenue. These two
customers accounted for 38% of the accounts receivable balance as of December 31, 2013. For the year ended

13
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December 31, 2014, no one customer accounted for greater than 10% of the Company s total revenue.
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 consist of balances due from customers in the
normal course of business. The Company did not record an allowance for doubtful accounts as this balance was
deemed fully collectible.

Inventory

Inventory as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 consists of finished goods. Inventory is stated at the lower
of cost or market determined under the first-in, first-out ( FIFO ) method.

14
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Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation and depreciated using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, generally between three and five years. Leasehold improvements
are amortized on a straight-line basis over the lesser of their useful life or the term of the lease. Maintenance and
repairs are charged to expense as incurred, and improvements are capitalized. When assets are retired or otherwise
disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the balance sheet and any resulting gain or loss
is reflected in operations in the period realized.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when all of the following criteria are met:

persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists;

the sales price is fixed or determinable;

collection of the relevant receivable is probable at the time of sale; and

delivery has occurred or services have been rendered.
For a majority of sales, where the Company delivers its product to hospitals or medical facilities, the Company
recognizes revenue upon delivery, which represents satisfaction of the required revenue recognition criteria. The
Company does not offer rights of return or price protection and it has no post-delivery obligations. The Company
provides a limited one-year warranty to most customers. Estimated warranty obligations are recorded at the time of
sale and to date, warranty costs have been insignificant

Income Taxes

NeoForce has elected S corporation status for federal and state income tax purposes. NeoForce and Innovations are
pass-through entities which file income tax returns as an S-corporation and a partnership, respectively. Consequently,
taxable income flows through and is taxed to the shareholders/members on their personal income tax returns.
Accordingly, no provision for federal or state income taxes is included in the consolidated financial statements.

In accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board ( FASB ) guidance on Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes, NeoForce utilizes a two-step approach to recognizing and measuring uncertain tax positions by
determining if the weight of available evidence indicates it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained
on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes. The second step is to measure the tax benefit
as the largest amount which is more than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. For the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, there were no liabilities recorded for unrecognized tax benefits related to tax positions
taken in the current period. NeoForce considers many factors when evaluating and estimating its tax position and tax
benefits, which may require periodic adjustments and which may not accurately forecast actual outcomes.

In accordance with the FASB guidance, NeoForce has elected to include interest and penalties related to its tax
contingencies in income tax expense. There were no accruals for interest and penalties related to uncertain tax
positions for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

15
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NeoForce files U.S. federal tax returns and Pennsylvania state tax returns. The tax years of 2011 through 2014 remain
open and subject to examination by the appropriate governmental agencies in the United States and Pennsylvania.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the FASB, and adopted by the Company as of the
specified effective date. Unless otherwise discussed, the impact of recently issued standards that are not yet effective

will not have a material impact on the Company s consolidated financial position or results of operations upon
adoption.

16
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Note 3. Variable Interest Entity

The Company follows FASB Accounting Standards Codification ( ASC ) 810, Consolidation, relating to consolidation
of certain variable interest entities (  VIEs ).

The Company consolidates a VIE in which it is deemed to have a controlling financial interest as a result of having the
power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the VIE s economic performance, and the obligation to
absorb losses or the right to receive benefits that could potentially be significant to the VIE. If the Company has a
controlling financial interest in a VIE, the assets, liabilities, and results of operations of the VIE are included in the
Company s consolidated financial statements.

One of Innovation s two equity members is the sole shareholder of NeoForce and owns 50% of innovations. Further,
NeoForce is the guarantor of Innovation s long term debt with a financial institution.

The Company s consolidated financial statements include the accounts and operations of Innovations although it has
less than a majority ownership. The Company determined it is the primary beneficiary of Innovations since the
Company has the power to direct or cause the direction of activities that most significantly impact the entity on a
day-to-day basis. The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of Innovations included in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements are $34,598 and $573,727, respectively, at December 31, 2014 and $51,897 and
$542,525, respectively, at December 31, 2013. The assets and liabilities consist primarily of property and balances due
to Neoforce (which are eliminated in consolidation), and long term debt with a financial institution. The Company
believes its maximum exposure to risk represents the obligations under the loan payable that has an outstanding
balance of $236,000 as of December 31, 2014 and is guaranteed by NeoForce.

Note 4. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of the Company s cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable, approximate fair value due to
the short-term nature of these items. Based on the borrowing rates currently available to the Company for debt with
similar terms and consideration of default and credit risk, the carrying value of the shareholder loan and loan payable
approximates their fair value, as of December 31, 2014 and 2013.

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or an exit price paid to transfer a
liability in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use
of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.

The fair value hierarchy defines a three-level valuation hierarchy for disclosure of fair value measurements as follows:

Level I  Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level I Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level I that are observable, unadjusted quoted prices in
markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable
market data for substantially the full term of the related assets or liabilities; and

Level Il Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity for the related assets or
liabilities.
The categorization of a financial instrument within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that
is significant to the fair value measurement.
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Note 5. Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31, December 31,

2014 2013

Furniture and fixtures $ 6,511 $ 6,511
Machinery and Equipment 117,296 117,296
Computer hardware 26,279 26,279
Leasehold improvements 51,937 51,937

202,023 202,023
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (143,315) (114,226)
Total $ 58,708 $ 87,797

Depreciation expense was $29,089 for each of the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014.
Note 6. Shareholder loan

On August 1, 2006 the Company received an advance of $30,000 from a former shareholder of the Company. The
loan had an original maturity date of April 1, 2007 and bore an interest rate of 6.25% per annum. As of December 31,
2013 the shareholder loan was in default. The outstanding principal and accrued interest were paid in full in July 2014.

Note 7. Current loan payable

In December 2007, Innovations entered into a Seed Capital Funding Agreement ( Agreement ) with Ben Franklin
Technology Partners of Southeastern Pennsylvania ( BFTP ) to fund up to $300,000 for verification of clinical
indications to support procedural effectiveness, regulatory user fees and costs associated with intellectual property
assessments and clinical studies. Innovations borrowed $236,000 under the terms of the Agreement at a rate of 8% per
annum with the aggregate principal and accrued interest due and payable on December 31, 2013.

As additional compensation for BFTP entering into the Agreement, Innovations issued a warrant to BFTP. The
warrant had a term of nine years. The warrant was exercisable into an equity interest in Innovations based on a
formula that would be determined and contingent on the pricing of subsequent issuances of equity interests by
Innovations. There have been no issuances of equity interests by Innovations since inception of the Agreement and
therefore the Company has determined that the warrant had an immaterial fair value as of December 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013.

During December 2011, the Company entered into a consent and waiver agreement with BFTP which provided for
NeoForce to subordinate its loan to Innovations and for NeoForce to become a guarantor of the debt Agreement
between BFTP and Innovations. The principal balance due pursuant to the Agreement is $236,000 as of December 31,
2014 and 2013. Accrued interest of $77,494 and $73,874 are included in accrued expenses on the balance sheets as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

18
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Starting on June 28, 2013, and ending on July 8, 2015, the Company made interest payments on a monthly basis of
$2,500, which totaled $57,000 over that period. No principal payments were made during this period. The original
loan balance plus accrued interest was settled and paid in full on September 8, 2015.

As of December 31, 2013, the BFTP loan was classified as a current liability, as it had an original maturity date of
December 31, 2013. As of December 31, 2014, the BFTP loan was in default and therefore classified as a current
liability on the balance sheet.

Note 8. Long term debt

On April 22, 2012, Innovations entered into a loan agreement with Katherine Crothall for $100,000. The loan had an
original maturity date of April 1, 2014 and bore an interest rate of 10% per annum. Accrued and unpaid interest was

payable upon the maturity of the note.

During 2013, Innovations repaid the loan in equal installments of $50,000 on January 17, 2013 and July 23, 2013, plus
accrued interest of $2,000 and $7,400, respectively.

Note 9. Commitments
Facility Leases

The Company leases office space under a month to month leasing arrangement. Total rent expense was $28,525 and
$27,580 for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Note 10. Subsequent Events

On September 4, 2015, Innovations entered into an Intellectual Property Assignment Agreement with NeoForce, in
which it assigned, transferred and conveyed to NeoForce all of its rights, title and interest to its intellectual property
rights, including the patents.

On September 8, 2015, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with NeoForce Acquisition, Inc., a
wholly owned subsidiary of Capnia, Inc. to sell substantially all of its assets, in exchange for an upfront payment of
$1.0 million and royalties on future sales. The assets sold consisted primarily of tangible assets, customer contracts
and patents.

The Company repaid all principal and accrued interest due on the outstanding BFTP loan payable on September 8,
2015.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NEOFORCE GROUP, INC.

INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets (unaudited)

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (unaudited)
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (unaudited)
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)

Exhibit 99.2
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NEOFORCE GROUP, INC. AND AFFILIATE

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(unaudited)
June 30, December 31,

2015 2014
Assets
Current assets
Cash $ 41,793 $ 39,192
Accounts receivable 94,009 126,974
Inventory 73,440 60,071
Total current assets 209,241 226,237
Long-term assets
Property and equipment, net 44,166 58,708
Security Deposit 4,000 4,000
Total assets $ 257,407 $ 288,945
Liabilities and shareholder s/members
deficit
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 37,000 $ 18,912
Accrued liabilities 78,330 80,531
Loan payable 236,000 236,000
Total current liabilities 351,332 335,443
Shareholder s/Members deficit
Common stock, no par value, 100 shares
authorized and outstanding 100 100

Assumed Annual Rates
of
Stock Appreciation for
Options the
Stock
Options  Granted to Exercise Option Term (4)
Granted price
1), (5) Employees (2) Expiration )]
# in 2004 ($/Share) Date (3) 5% 10%

Paul D. Arling 80,000 12.69% $17.59 1/21/2015 $ 884,729 $ 2,242,077
Robert P. Lilleness 50,000 7.93% 17.59 1/21/2015 552,956 1,401,298
Paul J.M. Bennett 20,000 3.17% 17.59 1/21/2015 221,182 560,519
Richard A. Firehammer Jr. 20,000 3.17% 17.59 1/21/2015 221,182 560,519
Bryan M. Hackworth 11,000 1.74% 17.59 1/21/2015 121,650 308,286

ey
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3)

Under its
various stock
incentive plan,
the Company
may grant to
eligible
employees
non-qualified
stock options.
During 2005,
the Company
granted a total
of 630,500
options to
employees.

Under all stock
option plans, the
option purchase
price is equal to
the fair market
value at the date
of the grant.

If an optionee
ceases to be an
employee, other
than by reason
of death or
disability, while
holding an
exercisable
option, the
option will
generally
terminate if not
exercised within
the following 90
to 180 days
(depending
upon the Plan
from which the
option is
granted). If the
optionee s
employment
ceases without
cause oOrasa
result of a
constructive
termination
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each as defined
in the Plan, all
options shall be
immediately
exercisable and,
if the optionee s
employment
ceases within

18 months to
two years
(depending
upon the Plan
from which the
option is
granted) of such
constructive
termination,
then the
optionee shall
be permitted to
exercise the
options at any
time until the
expiration of the
option in
accordance with
its original term.
Stock options
are not
transferable
except that
under all Plans
if an optionee
dies while an
employee of the
Company or
within one year
after becoming
disabled, a legal
representative or
legatee may
exercise the
option, to the
extent not
already
exercised, at any
time up to one
year from the
date of death or,
if shorter, the
expiration of the
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option in
accordance with
its original term.

In accordance
with SEC rules,
these columns
show gains that
might exist for
the respective
options,
assuming the
market price of
the Company s
Stock
appreciates from
the date of the
grant over a
period of ten
years at the
annualized rates
of five and ten
percent,
respectively. If
the stock price
does not
increase above
the exercise
price at the time
of the exercise,
realized value to
the named
officers from
these options
will be zero.
There can be no
assurance that
the amounts
reflected in this
table or the
associated rates
of appreciation
will be
achieved.

Options were
granted pursuant
to various
Universal
Electronics Inc.
incentive stock
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plans and vest

over four years

on the

anniversary date

of the grant at a

rate of 25% per

year and have

ten-year terms.
Aggregated Stock Option Exercises and Year-End Values. Table Il below sets forth, on an aggregated basis,
information regarding the exercise, during 2005, of options to purchase Company Common Stock by the Company s
Named Executive Officers and the value on December 31, 2005 of all unexercised stock options held by such
individuals.
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TABLE 111
Aggregated Stock Option Exercises and Year-End (December 31, 2005)
Stock Option Values
Number of Securities Value of Unexercised
Underlying Unexercised In-the-Money Stock
Shares Stock Options
Acquired
on Value Options at Year End at Year End (1)
Exercise Realized #) ®
Name # €3 Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable
Paul D. Arling 612,800 120,000 $ 4,104,304 $ 361,600
Robert P. Lilleness 16,579 $ 154,185 255,573 100,000 699,233 445,500
Paul J. M. Bennett 115,000 37,500 779,936 114,950
Richard A. Firechammer
Jr. 20,661 $ 130,496 56,539 22,500 219,014 45,200
Bryan M. Hackworth 6,500 19,500 5,513 16,538
Total 37,240 $ 284,681 1,046,412 299,500 $ 5,808,000 $ 983,788

(1) Based on a per

share price for

Company

Common Stock

of $17.23,

which reflects

the closing price

of the

Company s

Common Stock

as reported on

The NASDAQ

Stock Market on

December 30,

2005.
Employment Agreements
Mr. Arling. On April 23, 2003, the Company and Mr. Arling entered into an employment agreement with a three-year
term that, unless terminated by either party in accordance with the terms of the agreement, automatically renews for
successive one-year terms. In October 2005, the parties agreed to extend the expiration date of this employment
agreement to April 30, 2009, and amended the agreement to provide Mr. Arling a stay bonus. The stay bonus is
$200,000, and will be paid to Mr. Arling on the earlier of (i) December 15, 2007 (if he is still employed by the
Company on that date), (ii) the effective date of his termination of employment with the Company, if done without
cause (as defined in the employment agreement), or (iii) on the effective date of Mr. Arling s election to terminate his
employment for good reason (as defined in the employment agreement).
The current agreement requires that, during its term, Mr. Arling must (i) devote his full working time and energy to
the Company, (ii) refrain from disclosing and/or using any of the Company s trade secrets and proprietary information,
and (iii) during the term of the agreement and for a period of two (2) years thereafter, refrain from soliciting certain of
the Company s large customers or any key employees. The agreement also increased Mr. Arling s annual base salary
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for 2003 to $420,000 (an increase of 5% over his 2002 annual base salary), with the opportunity to receive increases
(but not decreases) in such annual salary as determined and set by the Compensation Committee in accordance with
plans and policies established by that committee. Mr. Arling s 2003 base salary of $420,000 was not increased for
2004, 2005 or 2006. Mr. Arling may earn an annual bonus payable at or near the end of each fiscal year in an amount
equal to a percentage of his base salary in accordance with the method established by the Compensation Committee
(see Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation Annual Bonus Incentives ). Mr. Arling did
not receive an annual bonus for 2005. The agreement also permits the Company to award a discretionary bonus to
Mr. Arling as determined by the Compensation Committee. Mr. Arling did not receive a discretionary bonus in 2005,
although he was provided a stay bonus when his employment agreement was amended (as explained above). The
agreement further provides for the grant of options to acquire shares of Company Common Stock as determined by
the Compensation Committee. In January 2005, Mr. Arling received a stock option grant to acquire up to 80,000
shares of Company Common Stock (see COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT ON EXECUTIVE
COMPENSATION Common Stock Incentives ).
Neither the current agreement, nor the amendment, modified the $200,000 non-recourse interest bearing secured loan
provided to Mr. Arling by the earlier agreement. The loan was used by Mr. Arling for the acquisition of his primary
residence in Southern California. The loan bears interest at the rate of 5.28% per annum, which interest is payable
annually to the Company on each December 13th. The loan is secured by the primary residence purchased by
Mr. Arling, and the principal is payable on the earlier of (i) December 15, 2007, (ii) within twelve (12) months
following a demand from the Company if Mr. Arling shall cease (for whatever reason) to be an employee of the
Company or upon the occurrence of an Event of Default (as such term is defined in the promissory note evidencing
the loan) or (iii) on the closing of a sale or transfer by Mr. Arling or his spouse of all or any part of their primary
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residence in Southern California that secures the loan, including without limitation any sale or transfer of any interest
therein (including any beneficial interest therein) without the Company s prior written consent, which consent will not
be unreasonably withheld. Also, in accordance with the new agreement, Mr. Arling receives a grossed-up payment to
assist him in payment of interest on the loan and certain amounts of his taxes resulting from this payment. As of
March 31, 2006, the entire principal amount of $200,000 was owed by Mr. Arling to the Company. The agreement
further entitles Mr. Arling to participate in benefits plans of the Company in effect from time to time and for other
customary benefits.

If during the term of the agreement Mr. Arling should resign for good reason (as such term is defined in the
agreement), Mr. Arling will receive salary, bonus, other incentive compensation and perquisites, and may continue to
participate in Company benefit plans, for an 18-month period following such resignation (twenty-four (24) months if
such resignation is due to a Change in Control, as such term is defined in the agreement).

Mr. Robert P. Lilleness. In April 2003, the Company and Mr. Lilleness entered into an employment agreement with a
three-year term that, unless terminated by either party in accordance with the terms of the agreement, automatically
renews for successive one-year terms. On December 12, 2005, Mr. Lilleness was advised by the Company of the
Company s desire to not allow the agreement to renew. As such, at the end of business on April 30, 2006,

Mr. Lilleness employment agreement with the Company will terminate in accordance with its terms. Thereafter,

Mr. Lilleness will continue his employment with the Company as an employee-at-will. Until it terminates at the end of
business on April 30, 2006, Mr. Lilleness employment agreement provides that he is to be employed as the Company s
President and Chief Operating Officer and, during the term of the agreement, is to (i) devote his full working time and
energy to the Company, (ii) refrain from disclosing and/or using any of the Company s trade secrets and proprietary
information, and (iii) during the term of the agreement and for a period of two (2) years thereafter, refrain from
soliciting certain of the Company s customers and/or competitors or any key employees. The agreement also set

Mr. Lilleness annual base salary at $300,000, unchanged from November 2002, with the opportunity to receive
increases (but not decreases) in such annual salary as determined and set by the Compensation Committee in
accordance with plans and policies established by that committee. Mr. Lilleness 2003 base salary of $300,000 was not
increased for 2004, 2005, or 2006. Mr. Lilleness may earn an annual bonus payable at or near the end of the each
fiscal year in an amount equal to a percentage of his base salary in accordance with the method established by the
Compensation Committee (see Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation Annual Bonus
Incentives ). Mr. Lilleness did not receive an annual bonus for 2005. The agreement also permits the Company to
award a discretionary bonus to Mr. Lilleness as determined by the Compensation Committee. Mr. Lilleness did not
receive a discretionary bonus in 2005. The agreement further provides for the grant of options to acquire shares of
Company Common Stock as determined by the Compensation Committee. In January 2005, Mr. Lilleness received a
stock option grant to acquire up to 50,000 shares of Company Common Stock (see COMPENSATION
COMMITTEE REPORT ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION Common Stock Incentives ). The agreement
further entitles Mr. Lilleness to participate in benefit plans of the Company in effect from time to time and for other
customary benefits.

If during the term of the agreement Mr. Lilleness should resign for good reason (as such term is defined in the
agreement), Mr. Lilleness will receive salary, bonus, other incentive compensation and perquisites, and may continue
to participate in Company benefit plans, for an 18-month period following such resignation (twenty-four (24) months
if such resignation is due to a Change in Control as such term is defined in the agreement).

On March 3, 2006, the Company and Mr. Lilleness entered into a Change in Control and Salary Continuation
Agreement (see Salary Continuation Agreements below). This agreement was extended to Mr. Lilleness to replace
certain obligations of the Company to Mr. Lilleness that will be lost upon the termination of his employment
agreement on April 30, 2006.

Mr. Paul J.M. Bennett. On June 16, 1996, the Company s subsidiary, Universal Electronics B.V. (formerly known as
One For All, B.V.), entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Bennett. The Company believes that the
agreement contains terms and provisions that are typical of these types of agreements in The Netherlands.

Mr. Bennett s compensation is split among the various Universal Electronics B.V. subsidiaries for which Mr. Bennett
devotes his time. By the agreement, Mr. Bennett receives a base salary (paid in euros), which may be increased as
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determined and set by the Compensation Committee in accordance with plans and policies established by that
committee. Mr. Bennett s 2005 base salary of 213,480 was not increased for 2006. By the agreement, Mr. Bennett is
entitled to earn an annual bonus payable at or near the end of the Company s fiscal year in an amount equal to a
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percentage of his base salary, provided that certain earnings targets are met. Mr. Bennett did not receive an annual
bonus for 2005. The agreement further entitles Mr. Bennett to receive use of a Company-paid automobile, participate
in benefit plans of the Company in effect from time to time and for other customary benefits. Mr. Bennett has also
received a salary continuation agreement from the Company (see Salary Continuation Agreements below).
Salary Continuation Agreements. Messrs. Lilleness, Bennett, Firehammer and certain other officers of the Company
have salary continuation agreements with the Company (each, an SCA ). Each SCA takes effect upon the occurrence
of certain triggering events (as defined in the agreements). When effective, each SCA operates as an employment
agreement providing for a term of employment with the Company for a period ranging from twelve (12) to eighteen
(18) months (twenty-four (24) to thirty-six (36) months in the event of a hostile acquisition). In addition, each SCA
provides that the executive or other officer would receive increases in salary and bonuses during the term of the SCA
in accordance with the Company s standard policies and practices; however, in no event would such base salary and
bonus be less than the base salary and bonus such executive or other officer received in the year immediately
preceding the effective date of the SCA. Further, each SCA provides that the executive or other officer will be entitled
to receive stock option grants and to otherwise participate in the Company s incentive compensation and benefits plans
and other customary benefits programs in effect from time to time, but in no event would such participation be less
than that provided such executive or other officer immediately prior to the effective date of the SCA.
Under each SCA, if the Company terminates the executive s or other officer s employment for reasons other than the
executive s or officer s death or disability or for cause (as such term is defined in each SCA) or the executive or officer
resigns for good reason (as such term is defined in each SCA, which definition includes resigning in connection with
the occurrence of a change in control), the executive or other officer would receive, in one lump sum, an amount equal
to salary, bonus and other incentive compensation (including the cash value of all options held by such executive or
other officer, as options become immediately fully vested on the executive s or officer s termination or resignation date)
and to continue all health, disability and life insurance benefits for periods ranging from twelve (12) to eighteen
(18) months (twenty-four (24) to thirty-six (36) months in the event of a hostile acquisition) following such
termination or resignation.
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
See Employment Agreements Mr. Arling above for a discussion of his indebtedness to the Company.
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act ) requires any person who is a director or
officer of the Company, or the beneficial owner of more than ten percent of a registered class of the Company s equity
securities to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership on Forms 3, 4 and 5 with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and The Nasdaq Stock Market. Such persons are further required to furnish the Company with copies of
all such forms they file. Based solely on the Company s review of the copies of such forms it has received, the
Company has determined that all of the filings required to be filed pursuant to Section 16(a) have been filed, except
that Messrs. Arling and Firechammer each was delinquent with one Form 4 filing with respect to reporting one stock
option grant from the Company; Mr. Lilleness was delinquent with two Form 4 filings, one with respect to reporting
one stock option grant from the Company and the other pertaining to two cashless exercises and sales of Company
stock pursuant to stock option exercises; Messrs. Chahil, Mulligan and Sparkman each was delinquent with one
Form 4 filing with respect to reporting one stock issuance from the Company pursuant to the Company s 2004
Directors Compensation Plan; and Mr. Henderson was delinquent with five Form 4 filings with respect to reporting
one stock issuance from the Company pursuant to the Company s 2004 Directors Compensation Plan and eight sales or
transfers of Company stock. These delays were the result of failures in receiving pricing and sales/transfer information
from the Company and from the respective reporting persons in a timely manner. The Company believes that it has
rectified the problems causing these delays by distributing informative documentation regarding filing requirements of
Section 16(a) reports to each of the reporting persons.
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
The Compensation Committee members in 2005 were Messrs. Sparkman (Chairman), Henderson and Chahil, none
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of whom was an officer or employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the last completed fiscal year or
formerly an officer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. During 2005, none of these directors had any business
or financial relationships with the Company requiring disclosure in this Proxy Statement.

Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation
The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors met four times in 2005. The members of the Committee were
Mr. Sparkman (Chairman of the Committee), Mr. Chahil and Mr. Henderson. The Committee recommends
compensation arrangements for the Company s directors and executive officers and administers its various stock
incentive plans.
The Compensation Committee will review the compensation policies of the Company throughout the coming year,
particularly in light of the requirements surrounding expensing equity-based components of executive compensation
packages. All compensation actions taken during 2005 were consistent with principles previously established by the
Board of Directors. These principles include building a strong relationship between stockholder return and executive
and Director compensation, providing incentives to achieve both near and long-term goals, and providing an overall
level of remuneration that is fair and reflective of performance. The chief executive officer and other executive
officers are not present at the meetings unless requested by the Committee. Further, consistent with past practice, the
Board has decided that management of the Company should make decisions with respect to the compensation of all
employees, other than the chief executive officer and other executive officers of the Company.
Compensation Philosophy and Program. In administering executive officer compensation, the Compensation
Committee s objective is to establish a total pay program for the Company that appropriately balances compensation
costs with salaries and incentives sufficient to retain and motivate key executives. The chief executive officer presents
proposals and recommendations on executive officer compensation to the Committee for its review and evaluation.
During its discussions regarding the Company s executive compensation programs, the Compensation Committee
concluded that executive and director compensation matters are experiencing broad and far-reaching reforms that will
impact how companies leaders will be compensated for years to come. As such, for 2006, the Committee has decided
to hold off on making changes to the compensation programs for the Company s executive officers until they have
been able to obtain, review and act upon data and advice from an independent compensation consultant. As such the
Committee has commissioned an independent compensation consultant to provide the Committee with a report prior
to the end of June 2006 regarding current practices in executive compensation, particularly tailored to the Company
taking into consideration internal information and criteria from other independent sources to establish a
comprehensive compensation program that will be reflective of current practices and directions as well as overall and
individual executive officer compensation history, and the Company s recent and planned performance. Until a new
compensation program is established, which it expects to do shortly after receiving the consultant s report and advice,
except for increases in the base salary of two of the named executives as explained elsewhere in this report, the stay
bonus for Mr. Arling, and the approval of a new stock incentive program, the Committee has decided to (i) hold
executive officer base salaries at their current level, (ii) not award annual bonuses to the executive officers for 2005
performance, and (iii) not grant any equity based compensation to any of the executive officers.
Base Salary. Base salaries have historically been determined from an assessment of various factors including position,
tenure, experience, salary history and individual performance. This assessment has generally been subjective, not
subject to weightings or formulas and only considers external data to the extent available and believed by the
Compensation Committee to be helpful. Individual base salary increases has historically reflected what the
Compensation Committee believed to be fair and appropriate after considering the subjective factors, an assessment of
the Company s current and projected labor costs and the data it receives from independent sources. In keeping with its
stated plan to reassess the Company s overall executive compensation program, the Committee decided that each of
Messrs. Arling, Lilleness and Bennett, each of whom has an employment agreement with the Company and is paid in
accordance with the provisions of such employment agreements, would not receive an increase in their per annum
base salaries until the Committee has reviewed and acted upon the advice of its independent compensation consultant
with respect to establishing a new executive compensation program reflective of current trends and practices. The
Committee did however decide to increase the base salaries of the other two Named Executive Officers for 2006 of
between 10% and 29%. This decision was made after considering the efforts made by each of them during 2005 and
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Annual Bonus Incentives. The Committee has always believed that incentives help motivate the attainment of annual
objectives, including the Company s performance relative to that year s plan and the individual performance of each
executive officer. Based in part on data provided by the Company that was obtained from internal and independent
sources, the Compensation Committee established a method for determining bonuses for the Company s executive
officers, including the chief executive officer, utilizing a combination of financial and strategic goals. These goals
contain both objective and subjective components and, based upon the level at which those goals are achieved, each
executive officer will be paid a bonus equal to a percentage of the executive s base salary. For the chief executive
officer, the percentage ranges between 30% and 120% of his base salary as of year-end. For each other executive
officer, the percentage ranges between 20% and 100% of the executive s base salary as of year-end. In certain
circumstances, an additional bonus may be awarded if the Compensation Committee determines that an executive
officer s individual performance warrants such award. Based on the financial performance of the Company during
2005, neither Mr. Arling nor the other Named Executive Officers received bonuses for 2005, nor did any of them
receive a discretionary bonus for 2005. However, as a part of the October 2005 amendment to his employment
agreement, Mr. Arling was provided a $200,000 stay bonus to be paid in December 2007 or such other date as
specified in the amendment to his employment agreement. The Compensation Committee has established the criteria
for 2006 bonuses consistent with its past practices, however, it has concluded that such bonus program for the
executive officers could change if warranted by the report and advice received from the independent compensation
consultant.

Common Stock Incentives. In addition to its 401K and Profit Sharing Plan, the Company has provided various stock
incentive plans, pursuant to which it may grant options to purchase Company Common Stock, stock appreciation
rights and phantom stock awards to executive officers and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries with a view
toward providing the executive officers and employees a stake in the Company s future and compensation directly
aligned with the creation of stockholder value. The Compensation Committee has also issued stock options to attract
new executive officers to the Company. The Compensation Committee has generally established the terms and
conditions of such grants in a manner consistent with previous grants. Individual awards have been based on
subjective assessments of individual performance, contribution and potential. In addition, the Compensation
Committee has retained the discretion to make individual grants that it has deemed appropriate under the
circumstances, including to any or all of the Named Executive Officers. In keeping with this past practice, the
Committee has determined it appropriate to establish a new stock incentive plan, which, when approved by the
Company s stockholders, will be available for grants of options to purchase Company Common Stock, stock
appreciation rights and phantom stock awards to executive officers and employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries. The Committee has, however, determined to hold off making any grants under this new plan (any other
existing plan) to the executive officers until it has reviewed the report and advice received from the independent
compensation consultant.

Messrs. Arling and Lilleness are the trustees of the Company s 401K and Profit Sharing Plan. No changes in the plan
were made during 2005.

Perquisites. The Company offers very few perquisites or special benefits to executive officers. In general, the
Compensation Committee believes that the benefits offered are less than those offered at typical companies of similar
size and are not material when considering total compensation.

Deductibility. The Compensation Committee does not believe that the provisions of Section 162(m) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code ), will limit the deductibility of compensation expected to be paid by the
Company during 2006. Section 162(m) generally limits the deductibility for federal tax purposes of certain types of
executive compensation in excess of $1.0 million dollars per year. The Compensation Committee will continue,
however, to evaluate the impact of Section 162(m) of the Code and any such other provisions and take any action
deemed appropriate to maximize the deductibility for federal tax purposes of all elements of compensation. The
Company, however, may from time to time pay or award compensation to its executive officers that may not be
deductible. Further, because of the ambiguities and uncertainties as to the application and interpretation of Section
162(m) and the regulations issued thereunder, no assurance can be given, notwithstanding the efforts of the Company
in this area, that compensation intended by the Company to satisfy the requirements for deductibility under Section
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162(m) does in fact do so.
It is the view of the Compensation Committee that the compensation programs of the Company are well structured to

encourage the attainment of objectives, offer opportunities for a total level of compensation that is consistent with
other companies of similar size, and foster a stockholder perspective in management. The Compensation Committee
believes that the overall levels of compensation provided by these programs are fair and appropriate for the year just

ended and that they serve stockholders long-term interests.

Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors

J.C. Sparkman  Chairman
Satjiv S. Chahil
Bruce A. Henderson
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Performance Chart
The following line graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return with respect to Company Common Stock
versus the cumulative total return of the Company s Peer Group Index (the Peer Group Index ) and the Nasdaq
Composite Index (the Nasdaq Composite Index ) for the five (5) year period ended December 31, 2005. The graph and
table assume that $100 was invested on December 31, 2000 in each of Company Common Stock, the Peer Group
Index and the Nasdaq Composite Index and that all dividends were reinvested (although no dividends were declared
on Company Common Stock during the period). The graph depicts year-end values based on actual market value
increases and decreases relative to the initial investment of $100, based on information provided for each calendar
year by the Nasdaq Stock Market and the New York Stock Exchange.
The Company believes that the information provided in this performance chart has only limited relevance to an
understanding of the Company s compensation policies during the indicated periods and does not reflect all matters
appropriately considered by the Company in developing its compensation strategy. This information shall not be
deemed incorporated by reference by any general statement incorporating by reference this Proxy Statement into any
filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is
not necessarily indicative of future price performance.

Comparison of Stockholder Returns Among Universal Electronics Inc.,
the Peer Group Index™™ and the NASDAQ Composite Index

12/31/00 12/31/01 12/31/02 12/31/03 12/31/04 12/31/05

Universal Electronics Inc. $ 100 $ 111 $ 63 $ 83 $ 114 $ 112
Peer Group Index $ 100 $ 88 $ 114 $ 212 $ 315 $ 270
NASDAQ Composite Index $ 100 $ 79 $ 54 $ 81 $ 88 $ 89

(1) Companies in the Peer Group Index are as follows: Harman International Industries, Inc.; Koss Corporation; and
Interlink Electronics.

Recoton Corporation, which was included in the Peer Group Index in prior years, was not included in the Peer
Group Index for the disclosure above. On April 8, 2003, Recoton Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiaries
filed for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. The terms of the
Bankruptcy required Recoton to sell its remaining businesses and all related assets.

AMX Corporation, which was included in the Peer Group Index in prior years, was not included in the Peer
Group Index for the disclosure above. On February 15, 2005, AMX Corporation ( AMX ), Thrall Omni Company,
Inc. ( Parent ), and Amherst Acquisition Co. ( Subcorp ) entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger that allowed,
among other things, Subcorp to purchase all of the outstanding shares of AMX s common stock. Following the
completion of the purchase of AMX s common stock, Subcorp was merged with and into AMX, with AMX
surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent.

18
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Boston Acoustics Inc., which was included in the Peer Group Index in prior years, was not included in the Peer

Group Index for the disclosure above. On June 8, 2005, Boston Acoustics, Inc. ( BA ) entered into an Agreement and

Plan of Merger (the Merger Agreement ), with D&M Holdings U.S. Inc. (the Buyer ) and Allegro Acquisition Corp.,

a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Buyer (the Merger Sub ). The Merger Agreement provided that the Merger Sub be

merged with and into BA. As a result of the merger, BA became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Buyer.

PROPOSAL TWO: APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS

The Board of Directors, acting on the recommendation of its Audit Committee, has appointed Grant Thornton LLP, a
firm of independent registered public accountants, as auditors, to examine and report to the Board and to the
Company s stockholders on the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for 2006. The
Board of Directors is requesting stockholder ratification of such appointment. Representatives of Grant Thornton LLP
will be present at the Annual Meeting, will be given an opportunity to make a statement, and will respond to
appropriate questions.
Unless otherwise instructed, the proxy holders will vote the proxies received by them FOR the ratification of the
appointment of Grant Thornton LLP as the Company s independent registered public accountants for 2006.
Stockholder ratification of the appointment requires an affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of shares of
Company Common Stock present in person or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting. While stockholder
ratification is not required, and thus the stockholder vote is not binding, the Board of Directors may reconsider its
selection if the stockholders fail to ratify the appointment of Grant Thornton LLP as the Company s independent
registered public accountants for 2006.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS A VOTE FOR

THE RATIFICATION OF SUCH APPOINTMENT.
PROPOSAL THREE: APPROVAL OF THE UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS INC. 2006 STOCK
INCENTIVE PLAN
Background
As of March 31, 2006, options to acquire, in the aggregate, 3,150,550 available shares of Company Common Stock
have been granted and are outstanding under the Company s existing stock incentive plans, leaving, in the aggregate,
147,747 shares available for future grants under the various plans. As a result, the Board of Directors, believing that
the remaining number of shares available for future grants under the various plans would be insufficient to attract and
retain key directors, officers and employees, authorized the adoption of a new Universal Electronics Inc. 2006 Stock
Incentive Plan (the 2006 Plan ) to make an additional 1,000,000 shares of Company Common Stock (approximately
7.28% of the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock as of April 14, 2006, the Annual Meeting Record Date)
available for grants to the Company s directors, officers and employees. All three outside directors serving after the
Annual Meeting, 17 officers and approximately 312 employees will be eligible to participate in the 2006 Plan.
The stockholders are being asked at the Annual Meeting to vote on a proposal to approve the adoption of the 2006
Plan. The 2006 Plan was adopted by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors on March 3, 2006 and
will be approved by the full Board of Directors on April 27, 2006.
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New Plan Benefits
The Board of Directors believes that substantial benefits will accrue to the Company from the granting of stock
awards under the 2006 Plan to its directors, officers and employees. Stock awards encourage such persons to acquire a
proprietary interest in the Company through stock ownership and thereby afford them a greater incentive to enhance
the value of the Company Common Stock through their own efforts in improving the Company s business. The
granting of awards under the 2006 Plan also will assist in obtaining and attracting competent personnel who will
contribute to the Company s success by their ability, ingenuity and industry will provide incentive to the participating
personnel which will inure to the benefit of all stockholders of the Company. For these reasons, the Board adopted the
2006 Plan. Accordingly, the Board of Directors and management believes that ratification of the adoption of the 2006
Plan is in the best interests of the Company and recommends that stockholders vote in favor of the proposal. Unless
otherwise instructed, the proxy holders will vote the proxies received by them FOR the ratification and
approval of the 2006 Plan. No awards will be granted under the 2006 Plan prior to stockholder ratification of the
2006 Plan. Thereafter, Awards under the 2006 Plan will be granted at the discretion of the Committee and will depend
on a number of factors, including the fair market value of the Company Common Stock on future dates and actual
performance against performance goals. Consequently it is not possible to determine the benefits that might be
received by participants under the 2006 Plan in 2006 or the benefits that would have been received in 2005, if the
2006 Plan had been in effect in that year.
The following is a summary of the material features of the 2006 Plan, which is qualified in its entirety by reference to
the copy of the 2006 Plan attached hereto as Appendix C.
General
The 2006 Plan provides for the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance stock units, restricted
stock units or any combination thereof (each an Award ). Stock options may be granted to Eligible Participants (as
such term is defined in the 2006 Plan). Certain of the Eligible Participants may be granted incentive stock options
within the meaning of Section 422A of the Code and non-qualified (for federal income tax purposes) stock options.
Stock appreciation rights, which may be granted to Eligible Participants, give the grantee of a stock option the right to
elect an alternative payment equal to the appreciation of the stock value instead of exercising a stock option. Payment
of the stock appreciation right may be made in cash, shares of Company Common Stock or a combination thereof.
Performance stock units and restricted stock units may be granted to certain of the Eligible Participants, each unit
represents the right to receive one share of Company Common Stock. In the case of performance stock units,
Company Common Stock would be received upon the attainment of certain Company performance objectives. Such
performance objectives would be set by the Compensation Committee (the Committee ). In the case of restricted stock
units, Company Common Stock would be received upon completion of a restriction period, the duration of which
would be determined by the Committee.
In all cases, Awards are subject to the terms and provisions of the 2006 Plan described below. The maximum number
of shares of Company Common Stock reserved and available for issuance under the 2006 Plan is 1,000,000 shares,
which constitutes approximately 7.28% of the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock as of April 14, 2006,
the Annual Meeting Record Date.
Duration and Administration of the 2006 Plan
The 2006 Plan will terminate on June 13, 2016, unless sooner terminated by resolution of the Board of Directors (the

2006 Plan Termination Date ). Initially, the 2006 Plan will be administered by the Committee. The Committee must be
composed solely of two or more directors who are non-employee Directors. The current members of the Committee
are Mr. Sparkman (Chairman of the Committee), Mr. Chahil and Mr. Henderson (see THE BOARD OF
DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD ). Subject to the terms and conditions of the 2006 Plan, the
Committee has full and final authority in its absolute discretion to, without limitation: (i) determine the terms and
conditions of the Awards; (ii) construe and interpret the 2006 Plan and any agreement or instrument entered into
thereunder; (iii) adopt, amend, or rescind rules and regulations that may be advisable in the
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administration of the 2006 Plan; (iv) establish, amend or waive the rules and regulations and the instruments
evidencing Awards granted under the 2006 Plan; and (v) make all other determinations deemed necessary or advisable
for the administration of the 2006 Plan. Any decision made or action taken by the Committee in connection with the
administration, interpretation and implementation of the 2006 Plan and of its rules and regulations will be, to the
extent permitted by law, conclusive and binding upon all Eligible Participants and upon any person claiming under or
through any of them. Neither the Committee nor any of its members is liable for any action taken by the Committee
pursuant to the 2006 Plan. No member of the Committee is liable for the act of any other member.
Securities Subject to the 2006 Plan
Not more than 1,000,000 shares of Company Common Stock may be issued pursuant to the 2006 Plan in the
aggregate, except that in the event of stock splits, stock dividends, combinations, exchanges of shares or similar
capital adjustments, the Committee must make an appropriate adjustment in the stock subject to the 2006 Plan. If any
Award expires without having been fully exercised, the shares with respect to which such Award has not been
exercised will be available for further Awards but in no event beyond the 2006 Plan Termination Date.
Grant and Method of Exercise of Awards
Subject to certain conditions, the duration of each Award granted under the 2006 Plan will be determined by the
Committee, provided that no Award shall be granted after the 2006 Plan Termination Date, and no Award shall be
exercisable or vest, as applicable, later than the tenth anniversary of the date the Award was granted.
Each stock option granted under the 2006 Plan will have an exercise price of no less than the fair market value at the
date of grant which will be determined by averaging the highest and lowest sales prices for the Company Common
Stock on The Nasdaq Stock Market on the date of the grant. A stock option granted under the 2006 Plan will become
exercisable in equal increments of twenty-five percent (25%) of the shares of Company Common Stock which are
covered by the stock option on each of the first four anniversary dates of the grant.
Shares of the Company Common Stock shall be deliverable upon the vesting of performance stock unit Awards or
restricted stock units Awards for no consideration other than services rendered or, in the Committee s sole discretion,
the minimum amount of consideration other than services required to be received by the Company in order to assure
compliance with applicable state law, which amount shall not, in any case, exceed 10% of the fair market value of
such shares of Company Common Stock on that date of issuance.
Awards may be exercised by the giving of written notice to the Company of the exercise of the Award accompanied
by full payment of the exercise price (if applicable) in cash or, in the Committee s discretion, its equivalent. The
Committee also may allow cashless exercises.
Exercise of Stock Options upon Termination of Employment
Termination due to Death or Disability. If an Eligible Employee s employment with the Company and all subsidiaries
ceases because of death or disability, the option may be exercised by the Eligible Employee (or, in the event of death,
such person s estate or personal representative) until the earlier of either (i) the first anniversary of such termination of
employment or (ii) the expiration of the option, but only to the extent the option was exercisable at the date of such
termination of employment.
Termination without cause or due to Constructive Termination. If an Eligible Employee s employment with the
Company and all subsidiaries is terminated by the Company without cause or in the event of Constructive Termination
(including a Change In Control ) (as all such terms are defined in the 2006 Plan) the options become immediately and
fully vested without further action by any party and may be exercised by the Eligible Employee (or, in the event of
death, such person s estate or personal representative) until the expiration of the option.
Termination for any other reason. If an Eligible Employee s employment with the Company and all subsidiaries ceases
for any reason other than death, disability, without cause or Constructive Termination, the option may be exercised by
the Eligible Employee (or, in the event of death, such person s estate or personal representative) until
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the earlier of either (i) the 90th day following such termination of employment or (ii) the expiration of the option, but
only to the extent the option was exercisable at the date of such termination of employment.
Subject to certain limitations set forth in the 2006 Plan, the Committee may waive any restrictions or conditions set
forth in an option agreement concerning an Eligible Employee s right to exercise any stock option and/or the time and
method of exercise.
Cancellation of Restricted Stock Units Awards or Performance Stock Units Awards
If an Eligible Employee s employment with the Company and all subsidiaries terminates for any reason, the unvested
portion of any restricted stock unit. Award or performance stock unit Award will be canceled and the Eligible
Employee shall not be entitled to receive any consideration in respect of such cancellation; provided, however, that the
Committee, subject to certain limitations set forth in the 2006 Plan, may waive any restrictions or conditions relating
to the vesting of restricted stock unit Awards and performance stock unit Awards.
Income Tax Treatment
The Company has been advised that under current law certain of the income tax consequences under the laws of the
United States to the Eligible Participants and the Company of Awards granted under the 2006 Plan generally should
be as set forth in the following summary. This summary only addresses income tax consequences for Eligible
Participants and the Company.
An Eligible Participant who is granted an incentive stock option which qualifies under Section 422 of the Code will
not recognize income at the time of grant or exercise of such Award. No federal income tax deduction will be
allowable to the Company upon the grant or exercise of such Award. Upon the exercise of an incentive option,
however, special alternative minimum tax rules apply for the Eligible Participant. When the Eligible Participant sells
such shares more than one year after the date of exercise of the Award and more than two years after the date of grant
of the incentive option, the participant will normally recognize a long-term capital gain or loss equal to the difference,
if any, between the sales price of such shares and the option exercise price. If the Eligible Participant does not hold
such shares for this period, when the participant sells such shares, the participant will recognize ordinary
compensation income and possibly capital gain or loss in such amounts as are prescribed by the Code and the
regulations thereunder. Subject to applicable provisions of the Code and regulations, the Company generally will be
entitled to a federal income tax deduction in the amount of such ordinary compensation income.
An Eligible Participant to whom a non-qualified option (an option which is not an incentive stock option) is granted
will not recognize income at the time of grant of such option. When the Eligible Participant exercises such
non-qualified option, such person will recognize ordinary compensation income equal to the difference, if any,
between the option exercise price and the fair market value, as of the date of the option exercise, of the shares such
person receives. The tax basis of such shares to such person will be equal to the option price paid and the holding
period for such shares will commence on the day on which such person recognized taxable income with respect to
such shares. Subject to applicable provisions of the Code and regulations, the Company generally will be entitled to a
federal income tax deduction with respect to non-qualified options in the amount of such ordinary compensation
income recognized by the Eligible Participant.
An Eligible Participant to whom a restricted stock unit Award or a performance stock units Award is granted will not
recognize income at the time of grant of such Award. When such Eligible Participant receives the Company Common
Stock, the Eligible Participant will recognize ordinary compensation income equal to the fair market value of any
shares of Company Common Stock received. Subject to applicable provisions of the Code and regulations thereunder,
the Company generally will be entitled to a federal income tax deduction in respect of the Award of Company
Common Stock in an amount equal to the ordinary compensation income recognized by the Eligible Participant.
The discussion set forth above does not purport to be a complete analysis of all potential tax consequences relevant to
recipients of Awards or to describe tax consequences based on particular circumstances. It is based on United States
federal income tax law and interpretational authorities as of the date of this Proxy Statement, which are subject to
change at any time. This discussion does not address state or local income tax consequences or income tax
consequences for taxpayers who are not subject to taxation in the United States.
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The following summarizes the Company s equity compensation plans at December 31, 2005.
Equity Compensation Plan Information

(c)
Number of
securities
remaining
(a) available
for future
Number of issuance
Securities to be (b) under equity
compensation
issued upon Weighted-average plans
exercise price
exercise of of (excluding
outstanding outstanding securities
options, options, reflected in
warrants warrants column
Plan Category and rights and rights (@)
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders 1,708,326 $ 13.76 99,750
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders 1,442,224 $ 13.63 47,997
Total 3,150,550 $ 13.70 147,747
Vote Required

The action of the Board of Directors in adopting the 2006 Plan requires ratification by an affirmative vote of the
holders of a majority of shares of Company Common Stock present in person or represented by proxy at the Annual
Meeting.
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS A VOTE FOR
THE RATIFICATION AND APPROVAL OF THE UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS INC. 2006 STOCK
INCENTIVE PLAN

Stockholder Proposals for 2006 Annual Meeting
If a stockholder desires to have a proposal included in the Company s proxy statement and form of proxy for the 2007
Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the proposal must conform to the requirements of Exchange Act Rule 14a-8 and
other applicable proxy rules and interpretations of the Commission concerning the submission and content of
proposals, must be submitted in writing by notice delivered or mailed by first-class United States mail, postage
prepaid, to the Secretary of the Company, Universal Electronics Inc., 6101 Gateway Drive, Cypress, California 90630
and must be received no later than the close of business on December 29, 2006. Any such notice shall set forth: (a) the
name and address of the stockholder and the text of the proposal to be introduced; (b) the number of shares of stock
held of record, owned beneficially and represented by proxy by such stockholder as of the date of such notice; and
(c) a representation that the stockholder intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to introduce the
proposal specified in the notice. In order for a stockholder s proposal outside the processes of Rule 14a-8 to be
considered timely within the meaning of Exchange Act Rule 14a-4(c)(1), the proposal must be received by the
Company at the same address no later than March 14, 2007.
Proxy holders will use their discretion in voting proxies with respect to any stockholder proposal properly presented
from the floor and not included in the Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting, unless the Company had notice
of the proposal and received specific voting instructions with respect thereto by March 14, 2007.

Table of Contents 40



Edgar Filing: Capnia, Inc. - Form 424B3

Procedures for stockholder nominations are discussed above under the caption Corporate Governance Stockholder
Nominations for Director.

23
Table of Contents 41



Edgar Filing: Capnia, Inc. - Form 424B3

Table of Contents

Solicitation of Proxies
Proxies will be solicited by mail, telephone, or other means of communication. Solicitation also may be made by
directors, officers and other employees of the Company not specifically employed for this purpose. The Company will
reimburse brokerage firms, custodians, nominees and fiduciaries in accordance with the rules of the National
Association of Securities Dealers, Inc., for reasonable expenses incurred by them in forwarding materials to the
beneficial owners of shares. The entire cost of solicitation will be borne by the Company.
Form 10-K Annual Report
Any stockholder may obtain a copy of the Company s 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, with or without exhibits, by addressing a request to Investor Relations, Universal
Electronics Inc., 6101 Gateway Drive, Cypress, California 90630. A charge equal to the reproduction cost will be
made if exhibits are requested.
By Order of the Board of Directors
Richard A. Firechammer, Jr.
Senior Vice President, General Counsel and
Secretary
April 26, 2006
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Appendix A
UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS INC.
BY-LAWS, ARTICLE IV

STOCKHOLDER NOMINATION OF DIRECTOR CANDIDATES
Subject to the rights of holders of any class or series of stock having a preference over the Common Stock as to
dividends or upon liquidation, nominations for the election of directors may be made by the Board of Directors or a
committee appointed by the Board of Directors or by any stockholder entitled to vote in the election of directors
generally. However, any stockholder entitled to vote in the election of directors generally may nominate one or more
persons for election as directors at a meeting only if written notice of such stockholder s intent to make such
nomination or nominations has been given, either by personal delivery or by United States mail, postage prepaid, to
the Secretary of the Corporation not later than (i) with respect to an election to be held at an annual meeting of
stockholders, one hundred twenty (120) days in advance of the date of the Proxy Statement released to stockholders in
connection with the previous year s annual meeting of stockholders, and (ii) with respect to an election to be held at a
special meeting of stockholders for the election of directors, a reasonable time in advance of the meeting. For
purposes of this Section, a reasonable time in advance of the meeting is at least fifteen (15) days before the date that
the Proxy Statement in connection with such meeting is to be mailed to the stockholders. Each such notice shall set
forth: (a) the name and address of the stockholder who intends to make the nomination and of the person and persons
to be nominated; (b) a representation that the stockholder is a holder of record of stock of the Corporation entitled to
vote at such meeting and intends to appear in person or at the meeting to nominate the by proxy person or persons
specified in the notice; (c) a description of all arrangements or understandings between the stockholder and each
nominee and any other person or persons (naming such person or persons) pursuant to which the nomination or
nominations are to be made by the stockholder; (d) such other information regarding each nominee proposed by such
stockholder as would be required to be included in a Proxy Statement filed pursuant to the proxy rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission, had the nominee been nominated, or intended to be nominated, by the Board of
Directors; and (e) the consent of each nominee to serve as a director of the Corporation if so elected. The presiding
officer at the meeting may refuse to acknowledge the nomination of any person not made in compliance with the
foregoing procedure.
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Appendix B

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
The Audit Committee reviews the Company s financial reporting process on behalf of the Board of Directors and while
management has the primary responsibility for the financial statements and the reporting process, the Company s
independent registered public accountants are responsible for expressing an opinion on the conformity of the
Company s audited financial statements to generally accepted accounting principles, in all material respects.
In this context, the Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed with management and the independent registered
public accountants the Company s audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2005. The Audit
Committee has discussed with the independent registered public accountants the matters required to be discussed by
Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61 (Communication with Audit Committees), as amended by Statement on
Auditing Standards No. 90. In addition, the Audit Committee has received from the independent registered public
accountants the written disclosures required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 (Independence
Discussion with Audit Committees) and discussed with them their independence from the Company and its
management. Finally, the Audit Committee has considered whether the independent registered public accountants
provision of non-audit services to the Company is compatible with the registered public accountants independence.
Relying on the reviews and discussions referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board of
Directors, and the Board has approved, that the financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31,
2005 as presented to the Audit Committee be included in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2005 to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in accordance with the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended and the rules and regulations promulgated there under.

Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors

Bruce A. Henderson Chairman
William C. Mulligan
J.C. Sparkman
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Appendix C
UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS INC.
2006 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN
EFFECTIVE JUNE 13, 2006
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UNIVERSAL ELECTRONICS INC.
2006 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN

SECTION 1. GENERAL PURPOSE OF PLAN; DEFINITIONS.
The name of this Plan is the Universal Electronics Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (the Plan ). The purpose of this Plan
is to enable the Corporation (as hereinafter defined) and its Subsidiaries (as hereinafter defined) to obtain and retain
competent personnel who will contribute to the Corporation s success by their ability, ingenuity and industry and to
provide incentives to the participating directors, officers and other employees which are related to increases in
stockholder value and will therefore inure to the benefit of all stockholders of the Corporation.
For purposes of this Plan, the following terms shall be defined as set forth below:
(@) Award means any grant under this Plan in the form of Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Performance

Stock Units, Restricted Stock Units or any combination of the foregoing.

(b) Board means the Board of Directors of the Corporation.
(c) Code means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, or any successor thereto.

(d) Committee means the Compensation Committee or any other committee that the Board may subsequently appoint
to administer this Plan. The Committee shall be composed entirely of directors who meet the qualifications
referred to in Section 2 of this Plan.

(e) Corporation means Universal Electronics Inc., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware
(or any successor corporation), including, where applicable, any and all of its subsidiaries or related entities.

(f) Disability means an event of illness or other incapacity of Optionee resulting in Optionee s failure or inability to
discharge Optionee s duties as a director (a Director ) or employee of the Corporation, any Subsidiary or any
Related Entity for ninety (90) or more days during any period of 120 consecutive days.

(g) Eligible Employee means an employee of the Corporation, any Subsidiary or any Related Entity as described in
Section 4 of this Plan.

(h) Fair Market Value means, as of any given date, with respect to any Awards granted hereunder, the mean of the
high and low trading price of the Stock on such date as reported on The Nasdaq Stock Market or if the Stock is
not then traded on The Nasdaq Stock Market, on such other national securities exchange on which the Stock is
admitted to trade or, if none, on the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation System if
the Stock is admitted for quotation thereon; provided, however, that if any such system, exchange or quotation
system is closed on any day on which Fair Market Value is to be determined, Fair Market Value shall be
determined as of the first day immediately proceeding such day on which such system, exchange or quotation
system was open for trading; provided, further, that in all other circumstances, Fair Market Value means the value
determined by the Committee after obtaining an appraisal by one or more independent appraisers meeting the
requirements of regulations issued under Section 170(a)(1) of the Code.

(i) Incentive Stock Option means any Stock Option intended to qualify as an incentive stock option within the
meaning of Section 422 of the Code.

() Non-Employee Director shall have the meaning set forth in Rule 16b-3 ( Rule 16b-3 ), as promulgated by the
Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time

(the Exchange Act ), or any successor definition adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission.

(k) Nongqualified Stock Option means any Stock Option that is not an Incentive Stock Option.
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(m) Participant means any Director or Eligible Employee selected by the Committee, pursuant to the Committee s
authority in Section 2 of this Plan, to receive Awards.

(n)  Performance Stock Unit means the right to receive one share of Stock as set forth in an Award granted pursuant
to Section 7 of this Plan.

(o) Related Entity means any corporation, joint venture or other entity, domestic or foreign, other than a Subsidiary,
in which the Corporation owns, directly or indirectly, a substantial equity interest.

(p) Restricted Stock Unit means the right to receive one share of Stock as set forth in an Award granted pursuant to
Section 7 of this Plan.

(@) Retirement means (i) retirement from active employment under a retirement plan of the Corporation, any
Subsidiary or Related Entity or under an employment contract with any of them or (ii) termination of
employment at or after age 55 under circumstances which the Committee, in its sole discretion, deems equivalent
to retirement.

(r)  Stock means the common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Corporation.

(s)  Stock Appreciation Right means the right pursuant to an Award granted under Section 6 of this Plan, (i) in the
case of a Related Stock Appreciation Right (as defined in Section 6 of this Plan), to surrender to the Corporation
all or a portion of the related Stock Option and receive an amount equal to the excess of the Fair Market Value of
one share of Stock as of the date such Stock Option or portion thereof is surrendered over the option price per
share specified in such Stock Option, multiplied by the number of shares of Stock in respect of which such Stock
Option is being surrendered and (ii) in the case of a Freestanding Stock Appreciation Right (as defined in
Section 6 of this Plan), receive an amount equal to the excess of the Fair Market Value of one share of Stock as
of the date of exercise over the price per share specified in such Freestanding Stock Appreciation Right,
multiplied by the number of shares of Stock in respect of which such Freestanding Stock Appreciation Right is
being exercised.

(t)  Stock Option means any option to purchase shares of Stock granted pursuant to Section 5 of this Plan.

(u)  Subsidiary means any corporation in an unbroken chain of corporations beginning with the Corporation, if each
of the corporations (other than the last corporation in the unbroken chain) owns stock possessing 50% or more of
the total combined voting power of all classes of stock in one of the other corporations in the chain.

SECTION 2. ADMINISTRATION.

This Plan shall be administered by the Committee, composed solely of two or more directors who are Non-Employee

Directors, who shall be appointed by the Board and who shall serve at the pleasure of the Board. In the event that a

Committee has not been appointed or in the Board s sole discretion, this Plan shall be administered by the Board which

shall have all of the power and authority of the Committee set forth below. The Committee shall have the power and

authority in its sole discretion to grant Awards pursuant to the terms and provisions of this Plan.

In particular, the Committee shall have the full authority, not inconsistent with this Plan:

(a) to select Participants;

(b) to determine whether and to what extent Awards are to be granted to Participants hereunder;

(c) to determine the number of shares of Stock to be covered by each such Award granted hereunder, but in no case
shall such number be in the aggregate greater than that allowed under this Plan;
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(e) to determine the terms and conditions of any Award granted hereunder (including, without limitation, (i) the
restrictive periods applicable to Restricted Stock Unit Awards and (ii) the performance objectives and periods
applicable to Performance Stock Unit Awards);

(f) to waive compliance by a Participant with any obligation to be performed by such Participant under any Award
and to waive any term or condition of any such Award (provided, however, that no such waiver shall
detrimentally affect the rights of the Participant without such Participant s consent); and

(g) to determine the terms and conditions which shall govern all written agreements evidencing the Awards.
The Committee shall have the authority to adopt, alter and repeal such administrative rules, guidelines and practices
governing this Plan as it shall, from time to time, deem advisable; to interpret the provisions of this Plan and the terms
and conditions of any Award issued, expired, terminated, canceled or surrendered under this Plan (and any agreements
relating thereto); and to otherwise supervise the administration of this Plan.
All decisions made by the Committee pursuant to the provisions of this Plan and as to the terms and conditions of any
Award (and any agreements relating thereto) shall be final and binding on all persons, including the Corporation and
any Optionee.
SECTION 3. NUMBER OF SHARES OF STOCK SUBJECT TO PLAN.
One million (1,000,000) shares of Stock are reserved and available for issuance under this Plan. Such shares may
consist, in whole or in part, of authorized and unissued shares or issued shares reacquired by the Corporation from
time to time, as the Board may determine.
Subject to Section 12 of this Plan and to the extent that (a) a Stock Option expires or is otherwise terminated, canceled
or surrendered without being exercised (including, without limitation, in connection with the grant of a replacement
option) or (b) any Restricted Stock Unit Award or Performance Stock Unit Award granted hereunder expires or is
otherwise terminated or is canceled, the shares of Stock underlying such Stock Option or subject to such Restricted
Stock Unit Award or Performance Stock Unit Award shall again be available for issuance in connection with future
Awards under this Plan. Upon the exercise of a Related Stock Appreciation Right, the Stock Option, or the part
thereof to which such Related Stock Appreciation Right is related, shall be deemed to have been exercised for the
purpose of the limitation on the number of shares of Stock in respect of which the Related Stock Appreciation Right
was exercised.
In the event of any merger, reorganization, consolidation, recapitalization, stock dividend, spin-off, or other change in
corporate structure or capitalization affecting the Stock, the Committee shall make an equitable adjustment or
substitution in the number and class of shares reserved for issuance under this Plan, the number and class of shares
covered by outstanding Awards and the option price per share of Stock Options or the applicable price per share
specified in Stock Appreciation Rights to reflect the effect of such change in corporate structure or capitalization on
the Stock; provided, however, that any fractional shares resulting from such adjustment shall be eliminated; provided
further, however, that if by reason of any such change in corporate structure or capitalization a Participant holding a
Restricted Stock Unit Award or Performance Stock Unit Award shall be entitled, subject to the terms and conditions
of such Award, to additional or different shares of any security, the issuance of such additional or different shares
shall thereupon be subject to all of the terms and conditions (including restrictions and performance criteria) which
were applicable to such Award prior to such change in corporate structure or capitalization; and, provided, further,
however, that unless the Committee in its sole discretion determines otherwise, any issuance by the Corporation of
shares of stock of any class or securities convertible into shares of stock of any class shall not affect, and no such
adjustment or substitution by reason thereof shall be made with respect to, the number or class of shares reserved for
issuance under this Plan, the number or class of shares covered by outstanding Awards or any option price or
applicable price.
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SECTION 4. ELIGIBILITY.

Directors, officers and other employees of the Corporation, its Subsidiaries and its Related Entities who are
responsible for or contribute to the management, growth or profitability of the business of the Corporation, its
Subsidiaries or its Related Entities, as determined by the Committee, shall be eligible to be granted Awards; provided
however, with respect to an employee of a Related Entity, that such person was an employee of the Corporation, a
Subsidiary or, if originally an employee of the Corporation or a Subsidiary, of another Related Entity immediately
prior to becoming employed by such Related Entity and accepted employment with such Related Entity at the request
of the Corporation or a Subsidiary. The Participants under this Plan shall be selected, from time to time, by the
Committee, in its sole discretion, from among those Directors and Eligible Employees.

SECTION 5. STOCK OPTIONS.

(a)

®

(ii)

Grant and Exercise. Stock Options may be granted either alone or in addition to other Awards granted under
this Plan. Any Stock Option granted under this Plan shall be in such form as the Committee may, from time to
time, approve, and the terms and conditions of Stock Option Awards need not be the same with respect to each
Optionee. Each Optionee shall enter into a Stock Option agreement ( Stock Option Agreement ) with the
Corporation, in such form as the Committee shall determine, which agreement shall set forth, among other things,
the exercise price of the Stock Option, the term of the Stock Option and conditions regarding exercisability of the
Stock Option granted thereunder.
Nature of Options. The Committee shall have the authority to grant any Participant either Incentive Stock
Options, Nonqualified Stock Options or both types of Stock Options (in each case with or without Stock
Appreciation Rights), except that the Committee shall not grant any Incentive Stock Options to an employee of
a Related Entity. Any Stock Option which does not qualify as an Incentive Stock Option, or the terms of which
at the time of its grant provide that it shall not be treated as an Incentive Stock Option, shall constitute a
Nonqualified Stock Option.

Exercisability. Subject to such terms and conditions as shall be determined by the Committee in its sole
discretion at or after the time of grant, Stock Options shall be exercisable from time to time (a) to the extent of
twenty-five percent (25%) of the number of shares of Stock covered by the Stock Option, on and after the first
anniversary and before the second anniversary of the date of grant of the Stock Option, (b) to the extent of fifty
percent (50%) of the number of shares of Stock covered by the Stock Option, on and after the second
anniversary and before the third anniversary of the date of grant of the Stock Option, (c) to the extent of
seventy-five percent (75%) of the number of shares of Stock covered by the Stock Option, on and after the third
anniversary and before the fourth anniversary of the date of grant of the Stock Option and (d) to the extent of
one hundred percent (100%) of the number of shares of Stock covered by the Stock Option, on and after the
fourth anniversary of the date of grant of the Stock Option and before the expiration of the stated term of the
Stock Option (or to such lesser extent as the Committee in its sole discretion shall determine at the time of grant
or to such greater extent as the Committee in its sole discretion shall determine at or after the time of grant).

(iii)) Method of Exercise. Stock Options may be exercised by giving written notice of exercise delivered in person

or by mail as required by the terms of any Stock Option Agreement at the Corporation s principal executive
office, specifying the number of shares of Stock with respect to which the Stock Option is being exercised,
accompanied by payment in full of the option price in cash or its equivalent as determined by the Committee in
its sole discretion. If requested by the Committee, the Optionee shall deliver to the Corporation the Stock
Option Agreement evidencing the Stock Option being exercised for notation thereon of such exercise and return
thereafter of such agreement to the Optionee. As determined by the Committee in its sole discretion at or after
the time of grant, payment of the option price in full or in part may also be made in the form of shares of
unrestricted Stock already owned by the Optionee (based on the Fair Market Value of the Stock on the date the
Stock Option is exercised); provided, however, that in the case of an Incentive Stock Option, the right to make
payment of the option price in the form of already owned shares of Stock may be authorized only at the time of
grant. The Committee also may allow cashless exercise as permitted under Federal Reserve Board s
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dividends or other rights of a stockholder with respect to shares of Stock subject to the Stock Option when the
Optionee has given written notice of exercise, has paid in full for such shares of Stock, and, if requested, has
made representations described in Section 10(a) of this Plan.

(b) Terms and Conditions. Stock Options granted under this Plan shall be subject to the following terms and
conditions and shall contain such additional terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the terms of this Plan, as
the Committee shall deem desirable.

(i) Option Price. The option price per share of Stock purchasable under a Stock Option shall be determined by the
Committee at the time of grant, but shall be not less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of the Stock on the
date of the grant; provided, however, that if any Participant owns or is deemed to own (by reason of the
attribution rules of Section 424(d) of the Code) more than 10% of the combined voting power of all classes of
stock of the Corporation or any Subsidiary when an Incentive Stock Option is granted to such Participant, the
option price of such Incentive Stock Option (to the extent required by the Code at the time of grant) shall be not
less than 110% of the Fair Market Value of the Stock on the date such Incentive Stock Option is granted.

(ii) Option Term. The term of each Stock Option shall be fixed by the Committee at the time of grant, but no Stock
Option shall be exercisable more than ten years after the date such Stock Option is granted; provided, however,
that if any Participant owns or is deemed to own (by reason of the attribution rules of Section 424(d) of the
Code) more than 10% of the combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Corporation or any Subsidiary
when an Incentive Stock Option is granted to such Participant, such Stock Option (to the extent required by the
Code at time of grant) shall not be exercisable more than five years from the date such Incentive Stock Option is
granted.

(iii) Transferability of Options. Except as otherwise determined by the Committee, no Stock Option shall be
transferable by the Optionee otherwise than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution and, during the
Optionee s lifetime, all Stock Options shall be exercisable only by the Optionee, or in the case of Optionee s legal
incompetency, only by Optionee s guardian or legal representative.

(iv) Option Exercise After Termination by Reason of Death or Disability. If an Optionee s directorship or
employment with the Corporation, any Subsidiary or any Related Entity terminates by reason of death or
Disability, any Stock Option held by such Optionee may thereafter be exercised for a period of one year (or
such shorter or longer period as the Committee in its sole discretion shall specify at or such longer period as the
Committee in its sole discretion shall specify after the time of grant) from the date of such termination or until
the expiration of the stated term of such Stock Option, whichever period is shorter, to the extent to which the
Optionee would on the date of termination have been entitled to exercise the Stock Option (or to such greater or
lesser extent as the Committee in its sole discretion shall determine at the time of grant or to such greater extent
as the Committee in its sole discretion shall specify after the time of grant). In the event of a termination of
directorship or employment by reason of death or Disability, if an Incentive Stock Option is exercised after the
expiration of the exercise period that applies for purposes of Section 422 of the Code, such Stock Option will
thereafter be treated as a Nonqualified Stock Option.

(v) Option Exercise After Termination Without Cause or Constructive Termination. If an Optionee s
directorship or employment with the Corporation, any Subsidiary, or any Related Entity is terminated, by the
Corporation or such Subsidiary or such Related Entity, without Cause (as such term is defined in the Stock
Option Agreement) or in the event of Constructive Termination (as such term is defined in the Stock Option
Agreement), the Committee, in its sole discretion, may permit the Optionee to exercise any Stock Option held
by such Optionee, to the extent not theretofore exercised, in whole or in part with respect to all remaining shares
covered by the Stock Option at any time prior to the expiration of the Stock Option (or such shorter period as
the Committee in its sole discretion shall specify at the time of grant), or to such greater or lesser extent as the
Committee in it sole discretion shall determine at the time of grant or to such greater extent as the Committee in
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(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Corporation or a Subsidiary, with a Related Entity (or acceptance of a directorship or employment, at the
request of the Corporation or a Subsidiary, with any other Related Entity), shall not be deemed a termination
of directorship or employment hereunder and any Stock Option held by Optionee may be exercised thereafter
to the extent that the Optionee would on the date of exercise have been entitled to exercise such Stock Option
if such Optionee had continued to be a director or an employee of the Corporation or such Subsidiary (or such
initial Related Entity), provided that the Optionee has been a director or an employee of the Related Entity to
which such Optionee has moved from the date of acceptance of such directorship or employment therewith
until the date of exercise. In the event of termination of the directorship or employment by the Corporation,
any Subsidiary or any Related Entity without Cause or in the event of Constructive Termination of the
Optionee s directorship or employment or the acceptance of the directorship or employment with a Related
Entity, if an Incentive Stock Option is exercised after the expiration of the exercise period that applies for
purposes of Section 422 of the Code, such Stock Option will thereafter be treated as a Nonqualified Stock
Option.

Option Exercise After Termination To Resignation. If an Optionee s directorship or employment with the
Corporation, any Subsidiary, or any Related Entity terminates as a result of Optionee s voluntary resignation,
other than a voluntary resignation due to a Constructive Termination (as defined in the Stock Option
Agreement), the Committee, in its sole discretion, may permit the Optionee to exercise any Stock Option held
by such Optionee to the extent such Option was exercisable on the date of such termination (or to such greater
or lesser extent as the Committee in its sole discretion shall determine at or after the time of grant) for a period
of time equal to the shorter of (i) ninety (90) days from the date of such termination (or such shorter period as
the Committee in its sole discretion shall specify at or after the time of grant) or (ii) the expiration of the stated
term of such Stock Option.

Other Termination. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 5 of this Plan, or as determined by the
Committee in its sole discretion, if an Optionee s directorship or employment with the Corporation, any
Subsidiary or any Related Entity terminates, all Stock Options held by the Optionee will terminate
immediately without the necessity of any further action by the Corporation, the Committee or the Optionee.

Annual Limit on Incentive Stock Options. To the extent required for incentive stock option treatment under
Section 422 of the Code, the aggregate Fair Market Value (determined as of the date of Incentive Stock Option
is granted) of the shares of Stock with respect to which Incentive Stock Options granted under this Plan and all
other option plans of the Corporation or any Subsidiary become exercisable for the first time by an Optionee
during any calendar year shall not exceed $100,000; provided, however, that if the aggregate Fair Market
Value (so determined) of the shares of Stock covered by such options exceeds $100,000 during any year in
which they become exercisable, such options with a Fair Market Value in excess of $100,000 will be
Nonqualified Stock Options.

SECTION 6. STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS.

(a) Grant and Exercise. Stock Appreciation Rights may be granted either in conjunction with all or part of any
Stock Option granted under this Plan ( Related Stock Appreciation Rights ) or alone ( Freestanding Stock
Appreciation Rights ) and, in either case, in addition to other Awards granted under this Plan. Participants shall
enter into a Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement with the Corporation if requested by the Committee, in such
form as the Committee shall determine.

(i) Time of Grant. Related Stock Appreciation Rights related to a Nonqualified Stock Option may be granted
either at or after the time of the grant of such Nonqualified Stock Option. Related Stock Appreciation Rights
related to such an Incentive Stock Option may be granted only at the time of the grant of such Incentive Stock
Option. Freestanding Stock Appreciation Rights may be granted at any time.

(ii)
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provisions of Section 5(a)(ii) of this Plan and Freestanding Stock Appreciation Rights shall be exercisable,
subject to such terms and conditions as shall be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion at or after the
time of grant, from time to time, to the extent that Stock Options are exercisable in accordance with the
provisions of Section 5(a)(ii) of this Plan. A Related Stock Appreciation Right granted in connection with an
Incentive Stock Option may be exercised only if and when the Fair Market Value of the Stock subject to the
Incentive Stock Option exceeds the option price of such Stock Option.

(iii)) Method of Exercise. Stock Appreciation Rights shall be exercised by a Participant by giving written notice of

(iv)

(b)

®

(ii)

(iii)

Tabl

exercise delivered in person or by mail as required by the terms of any agreement evidencing the Stock
Appreciation Right at the Corporation s principal executive office, specifying the number of shares of Stock in
respect of which the Stock Appreciation Right is being exercised. If requested by the Committee, the Participant
shall deliver to the Corporation the agreement evidencing the Stock Appreciation Right being exercised and, in
the case of a Related Stock Appreciation Right, the Stock Option Agreement evidencing any related Stock
Option, for notation thereon of such exercise and return thereafter of such agreements to the Participant.

Amount Payable. Upon the exercise of a Related Stock Appreciation Right, an Optionee shall be entitled to
receive an amount in cash or shares of Stock equal in value to the excess of the Fair Market Value of one share
of Stock on the date of exercise over the option price per share specified in the related Stock Option, multiplied
by the number of shares of Stock in respect of which the Related Stock Appreciation Rights shall have been
exercised, with the Committee having in its sole discretion the right to determine the form of payment. Upon the
exercise of a Freestanding Stock Appreciation Right, a Participant shall be entitled to receive an amount in cash
or shares of Stock equal in value to the excess of the Fair Market Value of one share of Stock on the date of
exercise over the price per share specified in the Freestanding Stock Appreciation Right, which shall be not less
than 100% of the Fair Market Value of the Stock on the date of Grant, multiplied by the number of shares of
Stock in respect of which the Freestanding Stock Appreciation Rights shall have been exercised, with the
Committee having in its sole discretion the right to determine the form of payment.

Terms and Conditions. Stock Appreciation Rights under this Plan shall be subject to the following terms and

conditions and shall contain such additional terms and conditions not inconsistent with the terms of this Plan, as

the Committee shall deem desirable.
Terms of Stock Appreciation Rights. The term of a Related Stock Appreciation Right shall be the same as the
term of the related Stock Option. A Related Stock Appreciation Right or applicable portion thereof shall
terminate and no longer be exercisable upon the exercise, termination, cancellation or surrender of the related
Stock Option, except that, unless otherwise provided by the Committee in its sole discretion at or after the time
of grant, a Related Stock Appreciation Right granted with respect to less than the full number of shares of Stock
covered by a related Stock Option shall terminate and no longer be exercisable if and to the extent that the
number of shares of Stock covered by the exercise, termination, cancellation or surrender of the related Stock
Option exceeds the number of shares of Stock not covered by the Related Stock Appreciation Right. The term
of each Freestanding Stock Appreciation Right shall be fixed by the Committee, but no Freestanding Stock
Appreciation Right shall be exercisable more than ten years after the date such right is granted.

Transferability of Stock Appreciation Rights. Stock Appreciation Rights shall be transferable only when and
to the extent that a Stock Option would be transferable under Section 5(b)(iii) of this Plan.

Termination of Directorship or Employment. In the event of the termination of the directorship or
employment of an Optionee holding a Related Stock Appreciation Right, such right shall be exercisable to the
same extent that the related Stock Option is exercisable after such termination. In the event of the termination of
the directorship or employment of the holder of a Freestanding Stock Appreciation Right, such right shall be
exercisable to the same extent that a Stock Option with the same terms and conditions as such Freestanding
Stock Appreciation Right would have been exercisable in the event of the termination of the directorship or
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SECTION 7. RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS AND PERFORMANCE STOCK UNITS.

(a)

(b)
®

(ii)

(©)

®

Grant. Awards of Restricted Stock Units or Performance Stock Units may be granted either alone or in addition
to other Awards granted under this Plan. Each Restricted Stock Unit or Performance Stock Unit represents the
right to receive, subject to the terms and provisions of this Plan and any agreements evidencing such Awards, one
share of Stock. If the Committee in its sole discretion so determines at the time of grant, a Participant to whom a
Restricted Stock Unit Award or Performance Stock Unit Award has been granted may be credited with an amount
equivalent to all cash dividends ( Dividend Equivalents ) that would have been paid to the holder of such
Restricted Stock Unit Award or Performance Stock Unit Award if one share of Stock for every Restricted Stock
Unit or Performance Stock Unit awarded had been issued to the holder on the date of grant of such Restricted
Stock Unit Award or Performance Stock Unit Award. The Committee shall determine the terms and conditions of
each Restricted Stock Unit Award and Performance Stock Unit, including without limitation, the number of
Restricted Stock Units or Performance Stock Units to be covered by such Awards, the restricted period applicable
to Restricted Stock Unit Awards and the performance objectives applicable to Performance Stock Unit Awards.
The Committee in its sole discretion may prescribe terms and conditions applicable to the vesting of such
Restricted Stock Unit Awards or Performance Stock Unit Awards in addition to those provided in this Plan. The
Committee shall establish such rules and guidelines governing the crediting of Dividend Equivalents, including
the timing, form of payment and payment contingencies of Dividend Equivalents, as it may deem desirable. The
Committee in its sole discretion may at any time accelerate the time at which the restrictions on all or any part of
a Restricted Stock Unit Award lapse or deem the performance objectives with respect to all or any part of a
Performance Stock Unit Award to have been attained. Restricted Stock Units Awards and Performance Stock
Unit Awards shall not be transferable otherwise than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. Shares of
Stock shall be deliverable upon the vesting of Restricted Stock Unit Awards and Performance Stock Unit Awards
for no consideration other than services rendered or, in the Committee s sole discretion, the minimum amount of
consideration other than services (such as the par value of Stock) required to be received by the Corporation in
order to assure compliance with applicable state law, which amount shall not exceed 10% of the Fair Market
Value of such shares of Stock on the date of issuance. Each such Award shall be evidenced by a Restricted Stock
Unit Award agreement ( Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement ) or Performance Stock Unit Award agreement
( Performance Stock Unit Award Agreement ).

Terms and Conditions. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee in its sole discretion:
a breach of any term or condition provided in this Plan, the Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement or the
Performance Stock Unit Award Agreement established by the Committee with respect to such Restricted Stock
Unit Award or Performance Stock Unit Award will cause a cancellation of the unvested portion of such
Restricted Stock Unit Award or Performance Stock Unit Award (including any Dividend Equivalents credited in
respect thereof) and the Participant shall not be entitled to receive any consideration in respect of such
cancellation; and

termination of such holder s directorship or employment with the Corporation, any Subsidiary or any Related
Entity prior to the lapsing of the applicable restriction period or attainment of applicable performance objectives
will cause a cancellation of the unvested portion of such Restricted Stock Unit Award or Performance Stock
Unit Award (including any Dividend Equivalents credited in respect thereof) and the Participant shall not be
entitled to receive any consideration in respect of such cancellation.
Completion of Restriction Period and Attainment of Performance Objectives. To the extent that restrictions
with respect to any Restricted Stock Unit Award lapse or performance objectives with respect to any Performance
Stock Unit Award are attained and provided that other applicable terms and conditions have been satisfied:
such of the Restricted Stock Units or Performance Stock Units as to which restrictions have lapsed or
performance objectives have been attained shall become vested and the Committee shall cause to be issued and
delivered to the Participant a stock certificate representing a number of shares of Stock equal to such number of
Restricted Stock Units or Performance Stock Units, and, subject to Section 10(a) hereof, free of all restrictions;
and
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(i) any Dividend Equivalents credited in respect of such Restricted Stock Units or Performance Stock Units shall
become vested to the extent that such Restricted Stock Units or Performance Stock Units shall have become
vested and the Committee shall cause such Dividend Equivalents to be delivered to the Participant.

Any such Restricted Stock Unit Award or Performance Stock Unit Award (including any Dividend Equivalents

credited in respect thereof) that shall not have become vested at the end of the applicable restricted period or the

period given for the attainment of performance objectives shall expire, terminate and be canceled and the Participant

shall not thereafter have any rights with respect to the Restricted Stock Units or Performance Stock Units (or any

Dividend Equivalents credited in respect thereto) covered thereby.

SECTION 8. AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION.

The Board may amend, alter, or discontinue this Plan, but no amendment, alteration, or discontinuation shall be made

which would impair the rights of a Participant under any Award theretofore granted without such Participant s consent,

or which, without the approval of the stockholders of the Corporation (where such approval is necessary to satisfy

then applicable requirements of Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act, The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., any Federal tax

law relating to Incentive Stock Options or any applicable state law), would:

(a) except as provided in Section 3 of this Plan, increase the total number of shares of Stock which may be issued
under this Plan;

(b) except as provided in Section 3 of this Plan, decrease the option price of any Stock Option to less than 100% of
the Fair Market Value on the date of the grant of the Option;

(c) change the class of Directors or Eligible Employees eligible to participate in this Plan; or

(d) extend (i) the period during which Stock Options may be granted or (ii) the maximum period of any Award under
Sections 5(b)(ii) or 6(b)(i) of this Plan.

Except as restricted herein with respect to Incentive Stock Options, the Committee may amend or alter the terms and

conditions of any Award theretofore granted, and of any agreement evidencing such Award, prospectively or

retroactively, but no such amendment or alteration shall impair the rights of any Optionee under such Award or
agreement without such Optionee s consent.

SECTION 9. UNFUNDED STATUS OF PLAN.

This Plan is intended to constitute an unfunded plan. With respect to any payments not yet made and due to a

Participant by the Corporation, nothing contained herein shall give any such Participant any rights that are greater than

those of a general unsecured creditor of the Corporation.

SECTION 10. GENERAL PROVISIONS.

(a) The Committee may require each Optionee purchasing shares of Stock pursuant to a Stock Option to represent to
and agree with the Corporation in writing that such Optionee is acquiring the shares of Stock without a view to
distribution thereof. All certificates for shares of Stock delivered under this Plan and, to the extent applicable, all
evidences of ownership with respect to Dividend Equivalents delivered under this Plan, shall be subject to such
stock-transfer orders and other restrictions as the Committee may deem advisable under the rules, regulations and
other requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, any stock exchange upon which the Stock is then
listed or quotation system on which the Stock is admitted for trading and any applicable Federal or state securities
law, and the Committee may cause a legend or legends to be put on any such certificates to make appropriate
reference to such restrictions.

(b) Nothing contained in this Plan shall prevent the Board from adopting other or additional compensation
arrangements, subject to stockholder approval if such approval is required, and such arrangements may be either
generally applicable or applicable only in specific cases. The adoption of this Plan shall not confer upon
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(©)

(d)

(e)

®

(2)

any director or employee of the Corporation, any Subsidiary or any Related Entity any right to continued
directorship or employment with the Corporation, any Subsidiary or any Related Entity as the case may be, nor
shall it interfere in any way with the right of the Corporation, any Subsidiary or any Related Entity to terminate
the directorship or employment of any of its directors or employees at any time.

Each Participant shall be deemed to have been granted an Award on the date the Committee took action to grant
such Award under this Plan or such later date as the Committee in its sole discretion shall determine at the time
such grant is authorized.

Unless the Committee otherwise determines, each Participant shall, no later than the date as of which the value of
an Award first becomes includable in the gross income of the Participant for federal income tax purposes, pay to
the Corporation, or make arrangements satisfactory to the Committee regarding payment of, any federal, state or
local taxes of any kind required by law to be withheld with respect to the Award. The obligations of the
Corporation under this Plan shall be conditional on such payment or arrangements and the Corporation (and,
where applicable, its Subsidiaries and its Related Entities) shall, to the extent permitted by law, have the right to
deduct any such taxes from any payment of any kind otherwise due to the Participant. A Participant may elect to
have such tax withholding obligation satisfied, in whole or in part, by (i) authorizing the Corporation to withhold
from shares of Stock to be issued upon the exercise of a Stock Option or upon the vesting of any Restricted Stock
Unit Award or the Performance Stock Unit Award a number of shares of Stock with an aggregate Fair Market
Value that would satisfy the withholding amount due, or (ii) transferring to the Corporation shares of Stock
owned by the Participant with an aggregate Fair Market Value that would satisfy the withholding amount due.
With respect to any Participant who is a director or an executive officer, the election to satisfy the tax
withholding obligations relating to the exercise of a Stock Option or to the vesting of a Restricted Stock Unit
Award or Performance Stock Unit Award in the manner permitted by this subsection (d) shall be made during the

window period as described within the Corporation Insider Trading Policy unless otherwise determined in the
sole discretion of the Committee of the Board.

No member of the Board or the Committee, nor any officer or employee of the Corporation acting on behalf of
the Board or the Committee, shall be personally liable for any action, failure to act, determination or
interpretation taken or made in good faith with respect to this Plan, and all members of the Board or the
Committee and each and any officer or employee of the Corporation acting on their behalf shall, to the extent
permitted by law and by the Corporation s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, and
its Amended and Restated By-Laws, as amended, be fully indemnified and protected by the Corporation in
respect of any such action, failure to act, determination or interpretation.

This Plan is intended to satisfy the conditions of Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act, and all interpretations of
this Plan shall, to the extent permitted by law, regulations and rulings, be made in a manner consistent with and
so as to satisfy the conditions of Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act. The term executive officer as used in this
Plan means any officer who is subject to the provisions of Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act. Any provisions of
this Plan or the application of any provision of this Plan inconsistent with Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act
shall be inoperative and shall not affect the validity of this Plan.

In interpreting and applying the provisions of this Plan, any Stock Option granted as an Incentive Stock Option
pursuant to this Plan shall, to the extent permitted by law, regulations and rulings be construed as, and any
ambiguity shall be resolved in favor of preserving its status as, an incentive stock option within the meaning of
Section 422 of the Code. Once an Incentive Stock Option has been granted, no action by the Committee that

would cause such Stock Option to lose its status under the Code as an incentive stock option shall be effective as
to such Incentive Stock Option unless taken at the request of or with the consent of the Participant.
Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Plan or in any Incentive Stock Option granted pursuant to
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this Plan, if any change in law or any regulation or ruling of the Internal Revenue Service shall have the effect of
disqualifying any Stock Option granted under this Plan which is intended to be an incentive stock option within
the meaning of Section 422 of the Code, the Stock Option granted shall nevertheless continue to be outstanding

as and shall be deemed to be a Nonqualified Stock Option under this Plan.

(h) Notwithstanding any other provision herein to the contrary, the maximum number of shares with respect to which
Awards may be granted to the same Participant under this Plan may not exceed, in the aggregate, 266,666 shares
of Stock, except to the extent of adjustments authorized by Section 3 of this Plan.
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SECTION 11. EFFECTIVE DATE OF PLAN.
This Plan shall be effective June 13, 2006.
SECTION 12. TERM OF PLAN.
No Award shall be granted under this Plan on or after the tenth anniversary of the effective date of this Plan; provided,
however, that the exercisability of Awards granted prior to such tenth anniversary may extend beyond that date.
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o  Mark this box with an X if you have made
changes to your name or address details above.

Annual Meeting Proxy Card

A Election of Directors
1. The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the listed nominees.

The election of Paul D. Arling as a Class I director to serve on the Board of Directors until the next Annual Meeting
of Stockholders to be held in 2007 or until the election and qualification of his successor, and the election of Bruce A.
Henderson, William C. Mulligan and J.C. Sparkman as Class II directors to serve on the Board of Directors until the
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held in 2008, or until their respective successors are elected and qualified.

For Withhold For Withhold
01 Paul D. 0 0 03 William C. 0 0
Arling Mulligan
02 Bruce A. 0 0 04 J.C. 0 0
Henderson Sparkman

B Issues

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the following proposals.

For Against Abstain
2. Ratification of the appointment 0 0 0
of
Grant Thornton LLP, a firm of
Independent Registered Public
Accountants, as the Company s
auditors for the year ending
December 31, 2006.
For Against Abstain
3. Approval of the Universal 0 0 0

Electronics Inc. 2006 Stock
Incentive Plan.

To consider and act upon such
other matters as may properly
come before the meeting or any
and all postponements or
adjournments thereof.

C Authorized Signatures Sign Here This section must be completed for your instructions to be executed.
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NOTE: Please sign your name(s) EXACTLY as your name(s) appear(s) on this proxy. All joint holders must sign.
When signing as attorney, trustee, executor, administrator, guardian or corporate officer, please provide your FULL
title.

Signature 1  Please keep Signature 2  Please keep Date (mm/dd/yyyy)
signature within the box signature within the box
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Proxy Universal Electronics Inc.

Meeting Details

6101 Gateway Drive, Cypress, California 90630
Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on Tuesday, June 13, 2006

The undersigned hereby appoints Paul D. Arling and Robert P. Lilleness and each of them, as Proxies, each with the
power to appoint his substitute, and hereby authorizes each of them to represent and to vote as designated on the
reverse side, all the shares of common stock of Universal Electronics Inc. held of record by the undersigned on
April 14, 2006 at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on Tuesday, June 13, 2006 at 4:00 p.m., Pacific
Daylight Time or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

THIS PROXY WILL BE VOTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SPECIFIC INDICATIONS ON THE
REVERSE SIDE OF THIS CARD. IN THE ABSENCE OF SUCH INDICATIONS, THIS PROXY WILL BE
VOTED FOR THE NOMINEES FOR ELECTION AS DIRECTORS AND TO RATIFY THE SELECTION
OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS.

In their discretion, the Proxies are authorized to vote upon such other business as may properly come before the
meeting.
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